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EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 

Rettew Associates, Inc. 
NRC Inspection Report No. 03038757/2015001 

 
The licensee is an engineering consulting company.  The license authorizes possession and 
use of portable moisture/density gauges anywhere within the NRC jurisdiction.  Sealed sources 
containing americium 241 and cesium 137 were authorized for use in these gauges.  This was 
an initial inspection of the licensee’s authorized activities.    
 
Based on the results of the inspection, three Severity Level IV violations of NRC requirements 
were identified.   These violations included:  (1) failure to use a minimum of two independent 
physical controls that form tangible barriers to secure a portable gauge from unauthorized 
removal whenever the portable gauges were not under the control and constant surveillance of 
the licensee, as required by 10 CFR 30.34(i); (2) failure to ensure that the designated Radiation 
Safety Officer (RSO) had received appropriate training as required by Condition 19 of the 
license, and (3) failure to implement the Radiation Safety Plan that required the RSO to ensure 
that all terms and conditions of the license are implemented, as required by Condition 19 of the 
license.   
 
The inspector observed licensee’s activities at a temporary jobsite of the licensee where an 
authorized user (AU) was using a portable gauge.  The inspector determined that the portable 
gauge was appropriately secured at the job site and the AU had all of the required documents 
with him.  Additionally, the AU satisfactorily explained his understanding of the security 
requirements for the gauges and the licensee’s operating and emergency procedures.   
 
Rettew Associates, Inc. immediately implemented corrective and preventative actions that 
included:  (1) weekly inspection of the storage facility to ensure that the gauges are properly 
secured and that the sign in/sign out utilization logs are up to date; (2) retraining of personnel in 
the security requirements for the gauges; (3) replacement of the RSO, and (4) amendment to its 
license to name another individual as RSO.  
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REPORT DETAILS 
 
1. Organization and Scope of the Program 

 
  a. Inspection Scope 
 

The inspector used the Inspection Procedure (IP) 87124 to perform the inspection.  
 
  b. Observations and Findings 
 

Rettew Associates, Inc. was authorized under NRC License No. 37-35160-01 to possess 
and use sealed sources containing americium 241 and cesium 137 in Troxler Model 
3400 series and CPN International Model MC series portable moisture-density gauges 
(gauges) for measuring physical properties of materials.  The license authorized storage 
of these gauges at the licensee’s facilities in Bridgeport, WV and for use at the licensee’s 
temporary job sites anywhere within NRC jurisdiction.  The inspector noted that the 
licensee stored the gauges in two separate locked steel cabinets that were located in a 
detached garage.  The garage was not always occupied.  The garage had a main drop 
down door and a side entrance door.  Each of these doors was equipped with a numeric 
electronic pad lock.  
 
During the site visit on June 2, 2015, the inspector reviewed the security of licensed 
material in the storage facility and noted that the drop down door of the garage was 
locked and the RSO had to enter a code number on the keypad to open the door.  
However, the side entry door to the garage was closed but unlocked and the inspector 
was able to open the door without using any code.  One of the locked steel cabinets had 
one Troxler Model 3411 portable gauge stored inside.  The other cabinet was empty.  
The RSO stated that the other gauges were in use at the licensee’s temporary job sites. 
The stored gauge was in its locked transport container but the key was still in the 
transport container’s lock.  The RSO stated that one of the AUs may have forgotten to 
arm the keypad.  At that time, there was no one inside the garage.  The inspector 
determined that the stored gauge was not under the surveillance of the license and the 
gauge was secured with only one physical control (the lock of the storage cabinet) that 
formed a tangible barrier to secure the gauge from unauthorized removal whenever the 
gauge was not under the control and constant surveillance of the licensee.    
 
10 CFR 30.34(i) requires that each portable gauge licensee use a minimum of two 
independent physical controls that form tangible barriers to secure portable gauges from 
unauthorized removal, whenever portable gauges were not under the control and 
constant surveillance of the licensee. 
 
The licensee’s failure to secure a Troxler Model 3411 portable gauge using a minimum 
of two independent physical controls that form tangible barriers to secure the portable 
gauge from unauthorized removal, whenever the portable gauge was not under the 
control and constant surveillance of the licensee is a violation of 10 CFR 30.34(i). 
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  c. Conclusions 
 
The inspector identified one violation of 10 CFR 30.34(i) when the licensee used only 
one physical control that formed a tangible barrier to secure a portable gauge from 
unauthorized removal, whenever the gauge was not under the control and constant 
surveillance of the licensee.  In accordance with the NRC’s Enforcement Policy, such 
violations are normally categorized at Severity Level III and considered for escalated 
enforcement action.  However, the NRC is exercising enforcement discretion to 
categorize this violation as Severity Level IV because:  (1) one physical control existed 
to prevent loss or theft of the portable gauge; (2) the licensee retained possession of the 
gauge; (3) the violation was isolated; and (4) no indication of programmatic weakness 
was identified.  

 
2. Management Oversight of the Program 
 
  a. Inspection Scope 
 

The inspector’s review of management’s oversight of the program including interviews 
with licensee personnel, direct observations of licensed activities, and a review of 
licensee records associated with the program.   

 
  b. Observations and Findings 
 

The licensee’s corporate office was located in Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania.  The Director of 
Geosciences located at the corporate office was responsible for the licensed program.  
The RSO was also located at the corporate office and reported to the Director of 
Geosciences.  Licensed material was used by the Civil/Municipal Engineering Services 
personnel under the direction of a project manager.   
  
The inspector discussed the program with the RSO and noted that the RSO had 
received only on-line RSO training and had not used or had any other experience with 
the use of portable gauges.  She was not fully familiar with all of the conditions of the 
license.  For example, she did not fully understand the contents of the licensee’s 
application dated August 8, 2014, for the license.  She stated that she worked out of the 
corporate office and rarely visited the storage location or reviewed the utilization logs of 
the gauges.  
 
Condition 19 of the license states, in part, that the licensee conduct its program in 
accordance with the statements, representations, and procedures described in the 
application dated August 8, 2014. The application was referenced in Condition 19 of the 
license and required, in part, that before obtaining licensed material the proposed RSO 
will have successfully completed one of the training courses described in criteria in the 
section entitled “Individual(s) Responsible for Radiation Safety Program and Their 
Training and Experience – Radiation Safety Officer” in NUREG-1556, Vol. 1, Rev. 1, 
dated November 2001.   
 
The criteria in the referenced NUREG state, in part, that the RSO must have adequate 
training and experience.  Contrary to the above, the licensee obtained licensed material 
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prior to providing the required training to the designated RSO in the use of portable 
gauges.   
 
Failure to ensure that the proposed RSO has received the required training prior to 
obtaining licensed material is a violation of Condition 19 of the license. 
 
The application also included the licensee’s Radiation Safety Plan which became part of 
Condition 19.  The Radiation Safety Plan required, in part, that the RSO ensure that all 
terms and conditions of the license are implemented.     
 
Contrary to the above, the RSO did not ensure that all terms and conditions of the 
license were implemented.  Specifically, she had not reviewed the sign in/sign out 
utilization logs for the gauge to verify if they were complete.  
 
The license was issued less than a year ago and the licensee had not yet performed an 
annual review of its program.  The inspector reviewed the inventory records and leak 
tests records of the gauges and determined that they had been performed in a timely 
manner.  The licensee had also provided personal dosimetry to AUs.  The monitoring 
devices (Luxel) had been exchanged quarterly and had been processed by an NVLAP 
approved vendor.  The inspector reviewed available records of personal exposures and 
noted that all exposures had been within the regulatory limits. 
 

  c. Conclusions 
 

The inspector identified two Severity Level IV violations of Condition 19 of the license.  
(1) The licensee did not provide the required training to the designated RSO prior to 
obtaining licensed material and (2) the RSO did not implement all of the requirements of 
the licensee’s Radiation Safety Plan. 
 

3. Material Use, Transportation and Security 
 
  a. Inspection Scope 
 

The inspector observed the licensee’s use of licensed material at a temporary job site to 
include:  the transportation of the gauge, the security of the portable gauge, and the 
documentation possessed by the AU.  The training certificate of the AU was also 
reviewed and the effectiveness of the training of the AU was assessed. 

 
  b. Observations and Findings 
 

On June 2, 2015, the licensee used licensed material at its temporary job site at Bowyer 
Pad, Harrison County, West Virginia.  The AU had a Troxler Model 3430 portable gauge 
that was transported by the AU to the job site in the company-owned vehicle.  The 
gauge was secured in the vehicle in accordance with the requirements in 
10 CFR 30.34(i).  The inspector requested the AU to open the transport container and 
noted that the source rod of the gauge was locked.  The AU possessed the required 
documentation that included the shipping papers containing the required information, 
operating and emergency procedures, a copy of the license, leak test records, and his 
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training certificate.  The shipping papers were kept in the side pocket of the driver’s seat.  
The transport container of the gauge was appropriately labeled.  The inspector 
discussed with the AU his training and understanding of the licensee’s procedures and 
the associated regulatory requirements.  The inspector determined that the AU was 
provided the appropriate training in the use of the gauge, the security requirements, and 
the licensee’s operating and emergency procedures.  The AU was wearing his assigned 
dosimeter and he confirmed that the badge was exchanged each quarter.     

 
  c. Conclusions 
 

No violations were identified. 
 

4. Radiation Surveys 
 
  a. Inspection Scope 
 

The inspector performed independent and confirmatory dose-rate surveys of the storage 
area and at the temporary job site. 

 
  b. Observations and Findings 
 

The inspector used NRC’s Bicron micro rem survey meter Serial No. 033432 to perform 
radiological surveys in the licensee’s storage location in Bridgeport and at the temporary 
job site in Harrison County, WV.  The inspector’s surveys in the storage area did not 
indicate any abnormal dose rates.  The dose rates outside the storage closet or at the 
job site were all within the regulatory limits. 

 
  c. Conclusions 
 

No violations were identified. 
 
5. Exit Meeting 

 
On June 2, 2015, during a telephone discussions with the licensee, the inspector 
explained the preliminary findings of the inspection.  The licensee committed to take 
immediate appropriate actions to correct the violations.  In a letter dated June 3, 2015, 
the licensee described the corrective actions that included designating a new RSO and 
providing refresher training in the security requirements for the gauges.  On 
September 3, 2015, the inspector conducted an exit meeting via telephone.  The 
licensee acknowledged the findings.  
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PARTIAL LIST OF PERSONS CONTACTED 
 

Licensee 
 
#*John Stipe, Director of Geosciences (via telephone) 
#*Mark D. Mayle, Project Manager 
#Lori Lavine, Radiation Safety Officer 
Clark Bussy, Authorized User 
 
# - present at entrance meeting 
* - present at exit meeting 
 

INSPECTION PROCEDURES USED 
 
NRC Inspection Procedure 87124, “Fixed and Portable Gauge Programs” 
 

ITEMS OPEN, CLOSED, AND DISCUSSED 
 
Three Severity Level IV violations were identified namely:  (1) the licensee’s failure to use a 
minimum of two independent physical controls to secure a portable gauge from unauthorized 
removal (Section I); (2) the licensee’s failure to provide training to the RSO prior to obtaining 
licensed material (Section II); and (3) failure of the RSO to fully implement the Radiation Safety 
Plan (Section II). 
 


